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1. MR JUSTICE KEENE: There are before me effectively two applications. By summons the Applicant in these proceedings, Mr Khan, seeks an Order that the Respondent, the London Borough of Hounslow, pay "The outstanding rent to my landlord forthwith". He also seeks interest and damages.

2. That summons, unusually, has been issued in proceedings brought for judicial review. The Applicant's application for judicial review is, in fact, in very similar terms to the Order which is sought on the summons. The application for judicial review by Notice of Motion, dated 1st March 1996, seeks an Order of Mandamus requiring the Respondent to determine his claim for housing benefit and a declaration that the Respondent was in breach of sections 20 and 21 of the Social Security Administration Act 1992. It is clear that the subject matter of the proceedings for judicial review, and those raised by summons on this Applicant's application, cover the same ground and both sides have agreed that I should treat today's hearing as the substantive hearing of the application for judicial review itself. I shall do so.

3. The matter has a somewhat complicated history. The Applicant made an application for housing benefit on 30th November 1994 in respect of an address where he said he lived, that being number 154 Grove Road, Hounslow. I have already indicated that the Notice of Motion was issued on 1st March of this year. The Council responded to that by writing a letter on 25th March indicating that some £11,516 could be paid, but that it could only be paid to the landlord. The Council also said that it could not fully determine Mr Khan's entitlement without the Applicant providing information on the appropriate form. In particular, they lacked details of his landlord.

4. The Applicant responded to that and gave a name and address for the landlord by letter dated 12th April 1996. In that he named the landlord as H Singh and Company. He duly filled in a form to that effect. That was dated 30th April 1996. As a result a Consent Order was then drawn up and signed by both parties withdrawing the Notice of Motion. That was dated 25th April 1996. Both parties agreed to do certain things. The Respondent Council agreed to pay the sum of £11,516.43 to Mr Khan's landlord and the Applicant, Mr Khan, agreed to provide the London Borough of Hounslow with his completed application forms.

5. However, a few days after that the Respondent discovered from inquiries of the Land Registry that the landlord of number 154 Grove Road, Hounslow, in the sense of the freeholder, was not H Singh and Company but a Mr A Jahanzeb. It made certain inquiries and, in due course, a letter was received by the Council apparently from Mr A Jahanzeb dated 8th May 1996. It was sent to the Council and it stated this:
"Thanking you for your letter of 2nd May 96. I confirm that I have rented the house to H Singh & Co and they are authorised to collect the rent. I further confirm that there has been a tenancy agreement from 1/4/94 with H Singh & Co.

Please write to M/S H Singh & Co for further information."

6. That letter bore the address 109 Avondale Road. On 11th June 1996 before this Court Tucker J duly made no Order in the proceedings against the London Borough of Hounslow, it having appeared that the parties had reached agreement. However, at about the same time the London Borough of Hounslow indicated by letter to the Crown Office that they felt that there were serious concerns about the terms of the Consent Order. In particular, an attempt to deliver the cheque to the landlord at the address given for him failed because the property was unoccupied.

7. The Consent Order had not been sealed by the Court when, in due course, the London Borough of Hounslow gave notice of its intention to apply to have it set aside. They gave such notice by a letter dated 27th June 1996. The Applicants sought to have the Consent Order sealed, but in early August 1996 Collins J declined to do so without a further oral hearing. The Crown Office informed the Applicant of this by letter dated 7th August 1996. It was then that the Applicant issued the current summons, to which I have already referred, and which first came before me two weeks ago and which I adjourned until today. Essentially in his summons and affidavit in support the Applicant says that everything is bona fides .

8. There is also before me today a cross-application by the London Borough of Hounslow to set aside the Consent Order on the basis that it was entered into by mistake and to set aside leave for judicial review because of the lack of full disclosure by the Applicant. The essential grounds, in support of that application, are that the named landlord seems, they say, not to exist. The basis for that is that certain inquiries were made on behalf of the Respondent by Donna Elliott, who has sworn an affidavit where she deposes to the fact that she visited 109 Avondale Road, London N15, the address given for the landlord, Mr Jahanzeb, and found that the property was unoccupied. She sent a letter to Mr Jahanzeb requesting him to attend a meeting at the Civic Centre but received no response from him. She also spoke about attempts being made to locate the firm of H Singh and Company.

9. I have before me also as an exhibit a witness statement made by a Mr John Olaitan, a Senior Investigation Officer with Haringey Council's Housing Benefit Fraud Team, in which he states that the address, 109 Avondale Road, London N15, which comes within that London Borough, is currently unoccupied. This statement was dated 1st July 1996. He can also confirm that according to the Council Tax Records there has never been a person in the name of Mr Jahanzeb ever registered or liable for council tax at that address.

10. Secondly, the Council's cross-application is on the basis that Mr Khan has originally claimed as owner occupier. Since this matter was adjourned two weeks ago the Respondent Council has caused inquiries to be made at the address to which it is said H Singh and Company had moved, that address, 14A Norwood Road, Southall, having been given during the course of the hearing before me two weeks ago. It appears, from further evidence lodged by the Council, that Miss Donna Elliott visited 14A Norwood Road, Southall, on 20th November this year. She was there met by a man who said he was Hardial Singh. She states that she asked him to let her have the details of Mr Jahanzeb's whereabouts, but he would not do so. He told her, according to her affidavit, that he would contact Mr Jahanzeb and ask him to contact her. He had not done so by 22nd November.

11. In the course of this hearing it has been suggested, although there is no formal evidence to this effect, that Mr Jahanzeb is in Pakistan and I have been given an address in Pakistan. It is also said that he has been there some seven or eight months which, on the face of it, is difficult to reconcile with the fact that, as I have already pointed out, he purported to have signed a letter, dated 8th May of this year, to the London Borough of Hounslow from 109 Avondale Road, but I acknowledge that that may merely be some slight discrepancy over the precise period of time during which he has been out of this country.

12. The essential position is that the London Borough of Hounslow cannot be required to pay Hardial Singh until there is proper evidence that he has an interest in 154 Grove Road such as to make him the Applicant's landlord. The position at law, which I have sought to put very summarily there, is to be found in the provisions of the Housing Benefit (General) Regulations 1987 and in particular Rules 5, 6 and 7. In essence they require that the Authority must be satisfied that the Applicant on benefit occupies the premises [in this case 154 Grove Road Hounslow] as his home and that there is a liability to pay rent. There is also a provision in Regulation 7 whereby certain persons are to be treated:
"... as if they were not liable to make payments in respect of a dwelling-"
and then paragraph (b) refers to:
"A person whose liability to make payments in respect of the dwelling appears to the appropriate authority to have been created to take advantage of the housing benefit scheme except someone who was, for any period within the eight weeks prior to the creation of the agreement giving rise to the liability to make such payments, otherwise liable to make payments of rent in respect of the same dwelling."

13. I am told, on behalf of the London Borough of Hounslow, and it is confirmed in the affidavits before me, that the Authority is not satisfied as to either of the matters, to which I have referred, about which it has to be satisfied under the regulations. I have to ask myself whether that is an unreasonable position on the evidence for them to have adopted. There is evidence before me that Mr Khan indicated, back on 29th March 1996, that he was at that date living not at 154 Grove Road, the subject matter of his application, but in a flat above premises at 44 Bell Road. I refer to an affidavit of Ratna Mhaiskar which refers to a statement by Mr Khan to the effect at the time when he was before the Court of Appeal on that date. The Council is also concerned about the fact that when the address for Mr Jahanzeb was given as 109 Avondale Road, N15, inquiries discovered no record that he had ever lived there and that it was unoccupied at the time.

14. It is said to me this morning by Mr Dhama, on behalf of the Applicant, that Mr Singh was authorised as an agent for Mr Jahanzeb and indeed that is what is said in a letter which is referred to. On the other hand, I have before me an affirmation by Mr Hardial Singh, dated 19th November 1996, stating that he is a solicitor and that in the course of his business he agreed to rent the property at 154 Grove Road from Mr Agha Jahanzeb, the owner of the property. That, I am bound to say, does not look like an agency but rather like a tenancy with a sub-tenancy. Indeed, the affirmation goes on to say:
"That I sub-let the property to Mr Malik Javed Khan and Mrs Farida Khan of 154 Grove Road, Hounslow, from 01.04.1994 for 12 months."

15. I bear in mind that Mr Hardial Singh is a solicitor and not a layman and can presumably be expected to recognise the difference between an agency and a tenancy and sub-tenancy. But above all I am concerned because it is said that the agreement which gives H Singh and Company some interest in the property entitling it, or Mr Singh, to payment of benefit from the London Borough of Hounslow, was dated 28th March 1994 and what purports to be that agreement has been put before me this morning. It is a document bearing the date of 28th March 1994 and purports to be between Mr Agha Jahanzeb, as the landlord, and Mr H Singh as the tenant. It lets the property 154 Grove Road aforesaid for a term of 12 months from 28th March 1994 at £550 per month. The first payment is to be made on 7th April 1994. It is then duly signed apparently by both parties and witnessed:"As witness the hands of the parties hereto, the day and year first above written," that is to say 28th March 1994.

16. It was passed up to me on behalf of the Applicant on the basis that this was the original. However, the form upon which this agreement has been set out is one of the standard forms obtainable from Oyez, the Solicitors' Law Stationary Society Limited, and this happens to be the 1995 edition. Indeed, not merely does it declare it to be the 1995 edition, it also bears the printer's date in the bottom right-hand corner on the back of the agreement "11.95". There is no way in which this could be the original of any agreement dated 28th March 1994. It is patently a false and fraudulent document.

17. I am bound to say that I regard that as of great significance. It must cast the gravest doubts over the whole of the Applicant's case. Putting it at its very lowest, it means that it is entirely unclear who is the true landlord and whether Mr Singh does have any genuine interest whatsoever in the property. No document has been put before me which would satisfy any responsible housing authority that Mr Singh has any interest in this particular property at Grove Road.

18. In those circumstances I can well understand that the Respondents are, in the light of these discrepancies and the fraudulent document, not satisfied of the matters referred to in the 1987 Regulations. In those circumstances I propose to dismiss the Applicant's summons. I propose also, since I have indicated that by agreement this is a substantive hearing of the application for judicial review, to dismiss the application for judicial review. I will also, in so far as it is of any relevance now, grant the Council's cross-application to set aside the Consent Order and I so do.

19. MISS CARRINGTON: My Lord, I am instructed to ask for costs. I do not understand Mr Khan to have been legally aided at any point.

20. MR JUSTICE KEENE: Can you resist the taxation?

21. MR DHAMA: May I ask for legal aid taxation in this matter.

22. MR JUSTICE KEENE: Are you legally aided?

MR DHAMA: Yes.

23. MR JUSTICE KEENE: We have nothing on the Court file indicating that your client is legally aided.

24. MR DHAMA: This legal aid was received on Saturday. It is Monday today.

25. MR JUSTICE KEENE: You have not notified the Court of it?

26. MISS CARRINGTON: The Respondents have never been notified despite inquiring specifically as to that position. In any event, it therefore only runs from Saturday to cover the costs, if any. In those circumstances we would ask for our costs up until today.

27. MR DHAMA: I understand that this legal aid was obtained only on Friday by telephone, and this letter was received by the instructing solicitors only on Saturday. So I have seen a copy of----

28. MISS CARRINGTON: That is a Notice of Issue. It is not a letter.

29. MR KEENE: Can I have a look at that? (Same handed). Where is the Legal Aid Certificate then that was apparently dated 8th November?

30. MR DHAMA: It is here, my Lord.

31. MR CARRINGTON: There are two things: this is limited to all steps up to and including the hearing on 11th November 1996. It does not, on the face of it, cover today's hearing. It may be that the Legal Aid Board would be prepared to regard it as covering the adjourned hearing, but I am troubled by why it is that no notice was given to the London Borough of Hounslow, when this was issued something like two and a half weeks ago----

32. MR DHAMA: I am aware of the fact that I understand that the Legal Aid Board had not received the letter by Thursday or Friday but only on Saturday. This Saturday. I can make inquiries about that. That is what has happened.

33. MR JUSTICE KEENE: Do you have anything to confirm that? Is there some covering letter from the Legal Aid Board?

34. MISS CARRINGTON: I do not know whether the transcript of the last hearing reveals anything but, in fact, Mr Khan told you, on the last occasion, that an application had been made just the day before, as I understand it.

35. MR JUSTICE KEENE: Mr Khan, I would prefer to hear from your counsel. I have no doubt he will take instructions from you or through his solicitor.

36. MR DHAMA: My Lord, I understand that the application was made beforehand but on Friday a telephone call was made to the Legal Aid Board and the Legal Aid Board then said it has been considered. Then the letter was put in the post on Friday and received on Saturday.

37. MR JUSTICE KEENE: Are you saying this Legal Aid Certificate only arrived on Saturday?

MR DHAMA: On Saturday.

38. MR JUSTICE KEENE: Was there no covering letter with it?

39. MR DHAMA: No, covering letter.

40. MISS CARRINGTON: What concerns me is that we did inquire, specifically on the 20th, whether Legal Aid had been granted. We had not been given notice before

41. MR DHAMA: At that time the legal aid was not confirmed.

42. MR JUSTICE KEENE: I am very troubled about this position. I clearly do not want to run up much greater costs in arguing about costs, especially when there may not be joy for anyone at the end of the day. I am prepared to stand you out and you make inquiries.

43. MISS CARRINGTON: If we could be stood out until 2 o'clock?

44. MR JUSTICE KEENE: Very well. I am going to stand any discussion of costs in this matter out until 2 o'clock this afternoon. We will insert this then in the other proceedings at that stage. There is one thing you could do during that adjournment and that is to photocopy both the Legal Aid Certificate itself and the Notice of Issue of Certificate which I have, and then would you lodge copies of those with the Court as well as letting the Council have copies as well. Thank you very much.

45. MR DHAMA: Two copies. I am keeping the copies of those myself.

46. MR JUSTICE KEENE: I have the original, have I? Thank you very much.

(Adjourned)


47. MR DHAMA: This was notified to the opposite side on 23rd November 1995 and the letter is here. They have been notified on the 23rd.

48. MR JUSTICE KEENE: What happened on the 23rd?

49. MR DHAMA: We notified the opposite side: Legal Services and London Borough of Hounslow.

50. MR JUSTICE KEENE: You notified Hounslow on the 23rd? The 23rd was a Saturday.

51. MR DHAMA: The Certificate was just received and the copy was sent at the same time with a covering letter, my Lord. They might not have received by now but this is a copy. I have the letter which was sent on Saturday.

52. MR JUSTICE KEENE: I notice that the emergency certificate has the marks of a staple through it. Was there something attached to it with a covering note?

53. MR DHAMA: There was a carbon copy which has been taken out.

54. MR JUSTICE KEENE: There was a carbon copy?

MR DHAMA: Yes, my Lord.

55. MR JUSTICE KEENE: No covering letter or anything like that?

56. MR DHAMA: No. That is the carbon copy.

MR DHAMA: I see.

57. MR JUSTICE KEENE: Very well. Yes, Miss Carrington?

58. MISS CARRINGTON: My Lord, the position is that my instructing solicitor has spoken to her office and the notification was received this morning as to the Legal Aid Certificate. Of course, Hounslow's costs of today have been incurred in any event, there being no notification by telephone that an application had been made.

MR JUSTICE KEENE: Or by fax?

59. MISS CARRINGTON: Or anything like that. I do not actually have a copy of the Certificate. I do remember seeing it was limited, in any event, to a very short period, that is three days.

60. MR JUSTICE KEENE: I had hoped there had been a copy for you as well.

61. MISS CARRINGTON: I have a copy of the Notice of Issue, not of the certificate itself. It is limited to all steps up to and including the hearing on 11th November, and limited in respect of costs and disbursements incurred. It is, in fact, only valid for three days anyway, between the 8th and 11th November. First of all, it is based on the case in the White Book that we ought to have been notified of the limitation. It is not enough to send us merely the Notice of Issue.

62. MR JUSTICE KEENE: Can I have the reference for that?

63. MISS CARRINGTON: It is in the White Book at page 1463.

64. MR JUSTICE KEENE: I would just like to look at that if you do not mind. I know I have had this trouble before. Do you have the reference again?

65. MISS CARRINGTON: It is under the "Civil Legal Aid (General) Regulations".

66. MR JUSTICE KEENE: It is Regulation 50.

67. MISS CARRINGTON: It is Regulation 50 "Notification Issue of Certificate." I am relying on the first note.

68. MR JUSTICE KEENE: Let me just glance through it. I can see that the regulation requires you to be notified whenever an assisted person becomes a party to proceedings, or a party to proceedings becomes an assisted person. Are you saying that there has to be notification of you of the application for Legal Aid?

69. MISS CARRINGTON: No, not of the application. Certainly of the issue which, in any event, came too late in this particular case. What I am saying is that even if one were to accept that the notification was in time, we certainly should have been notified of the limitation on the certificate that it was limited to three days only.

70. MR JUSTICE KEENE: Of course, the trouble is that Mr Dhama says they did not receive it until Saturday.

71. MR DHAMA: Indeed, nonetheless those are the regulations. The Certificate itself is so limited that what the borough would ask for is all its costs excluding the days provided on the certificate which is the 8th, 9th 10th 11th November, even assuming that notification was given in time, or timelessly.

72. MR JUSTICE KEENE: I must say it seems very surprising that a Certificate, especially an emergency one, should take from 8th November to the 23rd to find its way to Hounslow.

73. MR DHAMA: Indeed, in fact, I understand this application to be made by telephone, in any event, where timescales are very short.

74. MR JUSTICE KEENE: You have not been in touch with the Legal Aid Board at all?

75. MR DHAMA: My Lord, may I explain what has happened?

MR JUSTICE KEENE: Yes.

76. MR DHAMA: The application was made on the telephone and Legal Aid was granted on the telephone, subject to certain confirmation of the documents. That document was sent later on and then they confirmed Legal Aid on the 23rd. That is what happened.

77. MR JUSTICE KEENE: Can you say that again?

78. MR DHAMA: In principle the Legal Aid was granted when the application was made by telephone, but they wanted to see certain documents. Certain documents were sent to them and after that Legal Aid was granted. They were satisfied by the documents and then it was predated.

79. MR JUSTICE KEENE: They backdated, you say?

80. MR DHAMA: I would not say backdated. The telephone call was made and emergency Legal Aid was granted, subject to certain documents. Then they posted it after that. That is my understanding.

81. MR JUSTICE KEENE: I have tried to see where the date is on the emergency certificate. I have it.

82. MR JUSTICE KEENE: It does appear to cover the hearing of 11th November, Miss Carrington?

83. MISS CARRINGTON: The only thing that occurs to me is that if Legal Aid was granted on 8th Mr Khan was acting in person then. In fact, he was acting in person right up until today as far as those instructing me are aware. We did ask for confirmation in our letter of 20th November whether they were in fact on the record. It seems difficult to understand why the Legal Aid Board would have granted Legal Aid to a litigant acting in person when there were no solicitors on record. Other than that I cannot comment. We cannot get further information from the Legal Aid Board at this stage.

84. MR JUSTICE KEENE: What I am minded to do is to make an Order in respect of costs in two parts. In so far as it relates to the costs of the hearing of 11th November 1996, I shall make an Order for Costs against the Applicant Mr M J Khan, namely that he is to pay the costs of the Respondent in respect of the hearing of 11th November 1996 and all costs associated with that. That part of the Order not to be enforced without the leave of the Court.

85. So far as the costs of today are concerned, I shall simply make an Order that the Applicant do pay the Respondents' costs.

86. MISS CARRINGTON: My Lord, just to clarify, of course, the judicial review, which started back in January 1996, is of course also now gone and other costs have been incurred in respect of that. We understand Mr Khan not to have been legally aided at that stage.

87. MR JUSTICE KEENE: I will make it clear to the Associate. The part of the Order which relates to the part which is not to be enforced without leave of the Court only relates to those costs incurred in respect of the hearing of 11th November 1996 and the matters leading up to it from the issuing of Legal Aid on 8th November 1996

88. MISS CARRINGTON: I am obliged, my Lord.

89. MR JUSTICE KEENE: I am also, I have to say, still extremely troubled about the purported tenancy agreement between the landlord in this case and Mr Singh. I have contemplated directing that the papers in this matter should be sent to the Crown Prosecution Service, but Hounslow does have its own Fraud Investigation Unit, does it not?

90. MISS CARRINGTON: Yes, it is fairly certain that the matter will, in any event, be put in the hands of the police.

91. MR JUSTICE KEENE: I am, subject to anything Mr Dhama may wish to say to me, content to leave it like that but I am anxious that the circumstances in which a fraudulent tenancy agreement came into being, and came to be produced to this Court, should be investigated and steps taken, if necessary. On the face of it it is a fraud and that is a criminal offence.

92. MISS CARRINGTON: My Lord, indeed those sitting behind me hear what you have to say. It is almost 100 per cent certain that the matter will go to the police in any event.

93. MR JUSTICE KEENE: The original of that agreement is with the Court file.

94. MISS CARRINGTON: My Lord, I am obliged.

95. MR JUSTICE KEENE: I intend to see it remains with the Court file for the time being. Clearly if the police wish to investigate this matter further, they can do so. I have the Emergency Certificate and Notice of Issue Certificate in front of me. Anything further, Mr Dhama?

96. MR DHAMA: Just this purported tenancy agreement. As you mentioned to the Crown Prosecution Service, this has been explained. That is how this has came into existence that there was an agreement between Singh and Company and Mr R (inaudible) at that time and that agreement was not available and then it was predated later on. That was when the files were available. This is nothing----

97. MR JUSTICE KEENE: It is clear to you from my judgment that I do not accept that explanation. That is why I am having this matter referred to the London Borough of Hounslow Fraud Investigation Department on the basis that the police will be informed. Thank you very much, indeed.
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